1983

Utah Farm Production Credit Association v. Milo W. Watts, Et. Al. : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF CASE

This action was commenced by Utah Farm Production Credit Association (hereinafter "PCA"), to seek payment of three promissory notes and to foreclose a mortgage securing the repayment of said notes against Milo W. Watts and Cleown W. Watts (hereinafter "Watts") and Buford L. Gregory and Elizabeth A. Gregory (hereinafter "Gregory"). In addition, PCA sought payment of an unsecured note which was the obligation of Gregory only.

Watts brought a cross-claim against Gregory under the provisions of a Uniform Real Estate Contract on a farm of approximately 480 acres in size (hereinafter designated as the "Gregory Farm"). The Gregory Farm was originally owned by Watts and purchased by Gregory from Watts. Prior to the sale of the Gregory Farm to Gregory, PCA had a secured position on the Gregory Farm, Watts' home and ranch (hereinafter "Home/Farm"),

crops and equipment to secure an obligation due from Watts to PCA.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The complaint was filed in April 1980, and the case was at issue in June 1980. PCA sought summary judgment in August 1980 which was denied on December 16, 1980. Discovery was conducted by all parties.

PCA filed a second motion for summary judgment in October 1981. Partial summary judgment was granted October 26, 1981 in favor of PCA with the only issues remaining as to the exact amount owing to PCA because of farming operations from the year 1980 and whether the Home/Farm is subject to the mortgage. Additional discovery was conducted by the parties.

On December 7, 1981 PCA again sought summary judgment on the only remaining issues and on December 4, 1981 Watts sought summary judgment against PCA. Oral argument was held December 15, 1981 before Judge Burns, and the court took both motions under advisement with additional memoranda to be filed by the moving parties.

Memoranda were subsequently filed by the moving parties the last of which was filed February 1, 1982. Additional discovery and affidavits was completed and filed with the court by June 1982. The trial court did not rule on the pending motions

for summary judgment until June 7, 1983, at which time the court denied PCA's motion for summary judgment and granted summary judgment in favor of Watts, both as to PCA and against Gregory on the cross-claim.

The summary judgment was docketed with the clerk of the court on July 28, 1983. On August 11, 1983, PCA filed its Notice of Appeal.

NATURE OF RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

PCA seeks a reversal of the summary judgment in favor of Watts, and for judgment against Watts in the amount of \$346,346.72 plus interest from and after December 15, 1981, together with a decree of foreclosure against the Gregory Farm, the Home/Farm, crops and equipment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Watts had been borrowers from PCA for a number of years prior to 1978. Watts sold to Gregory a farm of approximately 480 acres in size (R. 50). At the time of this sale, Watts were indebted to PCA in the amount of \$104,884.00 secured by a mortgage on the 480 acre Gregory Farm, a mortgage on the Home/Farm, crops, cattle and equipment (R. 385).

After the sale of the Gregory Farm to Gregory, Watts, and Gregory sought additional financing from PCA (R. 386-387). PCA had no experience with Gregory, but had a number of years' experience with Watts and approved a loan to Watts-Gregory on January 6, 1980 (R. 15, 386, 387) part of which was a "roll-over" of Watts' \$104,804.00 loan in the amount of \$105,519.00 (R. 311, 367-69, 379), and it was the property of Watts, with the possible exception of the equitable interest of Gregory in the Gregory Farm, that was the security for the loan of January 8, 1979 (R. 15, 18-21, 23-30).

On March 21, 1979 PCA made an additional loan to Watts-Gregory in the amount of \$20,000.00 (R. 16, 385-86). This additional loan was secured by the Watts properties (R. 16, 18-21, 23-30). On August 21, 1979 PCA loaned to Watts-Gregory the sum of \$48,890.00 (R. 17), again secured by all of Watts' property.

On June 1, 1979 PCA made a loan to Gregory only in the amount of \$38,890.00 (R. 22), which was an unsecured loan.

Default on all four notes occurred and PCA commenced this action to enforce payment on April 30, 1980 and to foreclose on the security given to insure payment of said notes (R. 71).

PCA, after the matter was at issue, sought summary judgment on August 22, 1980 (R. 75). There were accompanying

affidavits and memorandum submitted in August 1980 in support of PCA's motion (R. 75-100). During the crop year of 1980, PCA entered into an agreement with Watts to farm the property under foreclosure (R. 88-92, 117-119). Watts filed an opposing affidavit which put into issue the amount realized from the operation of the Gregory Farm for the crop year of 1980. (R. 117-119). The summary judgment motion was denied on December 15, 1980 (R. 129).

Additional discovery was completed and a second motion for summary judgment was filed on behalf of PCA (R. 231-232), together with accompanying memorandum and affidavits (R. 233-242). On October 20, 1981 the trial court granted PCA's motion for partial summary judgment leaving only the issues of how much was due and owing on the Notes, and whether the Home/Farm was part of the security (R. 251, 332-333).

On July 17, 1981, PCA entered into a release agreement with Gregory for the satisfaction of the Gregory Note (Exhibit E to the complaint, R. 22), and to release Gregory from any deficiency judgment on the foreclosure of the Gregory Farm, while preserving the right of PCA to either take a deed in lieu of foreclosure of Gregory's interest in and to the Gregory Farm, or continue the foreclosure proceeding and have a stipulated judgment of foreclosure on the interests of Gregory's (R. 268-85), and foreclosure of the Home/Farm.

PCA conducted further discovery on the remaining issues and again sought summary judgment on December 7, 1981 (R. 258)

together with accompanying affidavits and memorandum (R. 262-291, 311-333, 358-395). Watts moved for a summary judgment (R. 256-257) on December 4, 1981 as against PCA and as against Gregory on May 20, 1983 (R. 398-399). The court after hearing oral argument on December 15, 1981 on PCA's and Watt's respective summary judgment motions, took the matter under advisement (R. 298), and requested supplemental memoranda by both parties.

PCA and Watts both filed supplemental memoranda the last being filed February 1, 1982 (R. 346). The trial court received additional evidence by way of deposition (Mr. Boyer) and affidavits, the last of which were filed with the court on July 28, 1982 (R. 378).

The trial court finally agreed to rule on the pending motions on June 7, 1983 (R. 396). On June 7, 1983 the trial court made a record of the proceedings and asked to be "refreshed" on the respective positions on Watts' motion for summary judgment (Supp. R. 3). After argument, the trial court made a finding that no justiciable issue of fact and law exists to the status of Watts and found that Watts were "accommodation makers" on the notes (Supp. R. 4). Further, the court found the release of July 17, 1983, released

. . . Watts to the same extent that the release refers to Gregory's, which the court interprets as a matter of law, to release the property as to claims against Gregory's same applicable to defendant Watts. (Supp. R. 4).

The court denied PCA's summary judgment on the basis of a "justiciable issue of fact" and further granted Watts' motion as against defendant Buford L. Gregory (Supp. R. 4-5).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE ARE TRIABLE ISSUES OF FACT ON WATTS' MOTION

The purpose of summary judgment procedure is to determine whether there are any triable issues of fact requiring a formal trial on the merits. Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires a showing that there is no genuine issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. It is a well established general principle that a genuine issue of material fact is necessary in order to preclude a summary judgment. A "genuine" issue is one which can be maintained by substantial evidence. In 73 Am. Jur.2d Summary Judgment §22 at pages 743-44 the law is stated:

The mere presence of an alleged adverse claim is not sufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgment, but to defeat summary judgment a party must substantiate his contradictory version in evidentiary form. It is not enough that one opposing a motion for summary judgment claims that there is a genuine issue of material fact; some evidence showing the existence of such an issue must be presented in the counteraffidavits. In other words, in order to show a triable issue of fact so as to defeat a motion for summary judgment, mere general averments will not suffice, since an evidentiary showing is indispensable. (emphasis supplied)

In accordance with the foregoing, PCA filed several affidavits in opposition to Watts' Motion for Summary Judgment supported by many evidentiary exhibits showing the existence of a

genuine issue of fact. Specifically, there is an issue of fact whether Watts are "accommodation makers" as found by the trial court (Supp. R. 4). An accommodation maker is defined in §70A-3-415 as follows:

An accommodation party is one who signs the instrument in any capacity for the purpose of lending his name to another party to it.

Anderson, Uniform Commercial Code, Vol. 2, p. 10002-3 §3-415:9 states in part:

The intention of the parties is the significant element in determining whether a given party is an accommodation party and the identity of the party accommodated. If the intent is not expressed, the purpose for which the commercial paper is executed or used is the significant element. . . . Where a person receives no direct benefit from the execution of the paper, it is likely that he will be regarded as an accommodation party but not if he receives a benefit. Illustrative of this distinction, it has been held that where a co-signer of a note receives a benefit from the proceeds of the note such person is a co-maker and not an accommodation party. (emphasis supplied)

The intent of PCA and Watts-Gregory is expressed in the loan documents, the promissory notes and the security documents. Watts are co-makers. The intent of PCA is very well established by the affidavits of Wood, Naylor and Mills wherein they stated:

10. That the security which PCA was given pursuant to the attachments to the Verified Complaint was on property that was owned in the main by Defendants Milo W. Watts and his wife Cleown W. Watts, and that affiant, in his capacity as a member of the loan committee with the specific responsibility to approve or disapprove loan applications, deemed Defendants Milo W. Watts and Cleown W. Watts, Buford L. Gregory and Elizabeth A. Gregory, his wife, as joint co-makers on said Note and obligation and that said loans per the Verified Complaint were on the auspices and strength of Milo W. Watts, Cleown W. Watts, Buford

L. Gregory and Elizabeth A. Gregory jointly as co-makers in each and every instance, and that the affiant so acted in his capacity as President of PCA and as a member of the loan committee on all loan applications as per the Exhibit "A" attached hereto, which loan action refers to Gerald Naylor and affiant herein and Ferris J. Fitzgerald. (R. 359-60, Mills Affidavit)

3. Said loan was the result of a "roll over" of \$105,519.00 of Milo and Cleown Watts' prior obligation and the extension of an additional amount of \$93,000.00 per an operating budget submitted by Gregory-Watts.

4. Affiant, of his own knowledge, declares and states that PCA, through its officers and agents, considered this loan to be the loan primarily of Milo and Cleown Watts inasmuch as there was long history established with Mr. and Mrs. Watts and the total security was owned by Mr. and Mrs. Watts and that Gregorys were unknown to PCA and had not established credit with PCA. (R. 311, Wood Affidavit).

4. That affiant, of his own knowledge, declares and states that in his capacity as Branch Manager as well as a member of the loan committee which approved the various loans which are evidenced by Exhibits "A", "B" and "C" to Plaintiff's Verified Complaint.

5. That affiant, of his own knowledge, declares and states that it was discussed on many occasions that the security for the Notes, Exhibits "A", "B" and "C", was a mortgage on certain real property, which real property was, in fact, owned by Defendants Milo Watts and his wife, that said loans would not have been made without said security and as Milo W. Watts and his wife as co-makers as distinguished from a guarantor or an accommodation maker.

. . .

7. That affiant, of his own knowledge, declares and states that Utah Farm Production Credit Association has a special form for a guarantor and/or accommodation maker and that said form is hereto attached as Exhibit "B" and by this reference is incorporate into and made a part of this Affidavit as if fully set out herein, and that Defendants Milo Watts and his wife Cleown

Watts has never been asked to execute as guarantors as distinguished from co-makers on these obligations. (R. 378-79, Naylor Affidavit).

Finally, Anderson, Uniform Commercial Code, supra, the 1970-74 supplement states at p. 901 §3-415:9 to the original text:

When the evidence is conflicting as to whether a person signed commercial paper as an accommodation for the payee, a question of fact is presented which is to be determined by the trier of fact.

Watts asserts and argued before the trial court that whoever received the proceeds of the loan is a "principal obligor" (R. 291). It is submitted that this a secondary test and not the primary test. The primary test is the intent of the parties.

The intent of the parties is evidenced by the loan action documents, the affidavits and the notes. In August, 1978, Watts sold to Gregory 481 acres. Gregorys were new to the Kanosh area and were unknown as far as farming operations, and as to credit worthiness. PCA, in July 1978 (see loan action document #1, R. 368-9) made Watts, not Gregory, a loan. The last notation states:

Recommend approval based on long time experience with member, repayment by maturity, security and financial strength. (emphasis supplied)

The loan of \$104,884.00 is one to Watts. It is essential to note what security is given for the Watts' loan. On document #1, the security is spelled out as:

Crop liquidation
1st mortgage 109 acres (Watts' home)

Cattle on hand
Cattle on contracts
Equipment
2nd mortgage on 1257 acres (Watts' farm)

In January, 1979, there is a request for an additional loan and to "roll over" the Watts' loan of \$104,000.00 from 1978. Document #2 (R. 366-7) is an action report showing that the loan was to "Gregory - Watts" and the correspondence of January 8, 1979 discloses that \$101,073.72, plus interest of \$1,445.28, is from the "roll over" of the Watts' loan of 1978.

On document #2, there is a description of the security for this loan as follows:

Hay
1st mortgage on 109 acres (Watts' home)
Cattle on contract receivable
Equipment
2nd mortgage on 1257 acres (Watts' farm)

Even a casual observation discloses this to be the very same security as the Watts' loan of 1978.

The note signed by both Watts and Gregory in the capacity of "makers" appears as Exhibit "A" to Plaintiff's Complaint having a face amount of \$198,519.00. It is noted that Watts' names appear first and Gregory's as second. Mr. Richard Wood, a loan officer for PCA, has stated under oath that on behalf of PCA in the capacity of a loan officer he considered Watts as the primary makers and that the loan was secured totally from Watts' property.

A second increase of the loan was made to "Gregory - Watts" with a note dated March 27, 1979. See Exhibit "B" attached to Plaintiff's Complaint. This loan action was documented on

document #5 (R. 364-5). It is an increase of the earlier loan. See bottom of the first page of document #5 and again the heading "Additional Loan Action." The security for this increase is:

Hay
1st mortgage on 109 acres (Watts' home)
Cattle on contract receivable
Equipment
2nd mortgage on 1257 acres (Watts' farm)

It is noted in the concluding paragraph:

Recommend approval of this loan increase request based on members' financial strength, repayment capacity, and security position. (emphasis supplied).

It is obvious that this is only an increase not a new loan. It is based upon members' (plural) financial strength and upon the security position. All of the security is from Milo Watts. Watts' names appear first on the note (Exhibit "B").

The last note (Exhibit "C" to Plaintiff's Complaint) was executed by Watts and Gregory and the "Additional Loan Action," document #7 (R. 362-3) indicates the following:

- A. This is an increase of existing loan for operating expenses.
- B. It is approved with a notation that there is to be "No more increases until Arizona property sold."
- C. This increase is \$48,890.00 and makes the total \$314,863.00.
- D. The security is:

Hay
1st mortgage on 109 acres (Watts' home)
Cattle on contract receivable
Equipment
2nd mortgage on 1257 acres (Watts' farm)

It becomes very obvious that the last increase, Exhibit "C" signed by Watts first and Gregory second, is the original Watts' loan with three increases.

Watts has never just "lent" his credit to Gregory as far as PCA is concerned, but was the maker, the member, the owner of the security and was the sole borrower initially of which the full amount is now and has been outstanding. The documents all indicate Watts was really the primary borrower.

Even under the secondary test, Watts is a co-maker and primary obligor. Watts obviously received direct benefit of \$105,519.00 (R. 311) on Note "A", the other two notes are extensions of the original loan. If Watts received "benefits" from the notes, they are not accommodation makers. See Fisher v. The Rice Growers Bank, 122 Ark. 602, 184 S.W. 36, MacArthur v. Cannon, 4 Conn. Cir. 208, 229 A.2d 372 (1967), Hansen v. Cheek and Devant, 251 Ark. 897, 475 S.W.2d 526 (1972). Also, 90 A.L.R.3d 243 and Nelson v. Cotham, 595 S.W.2d 693 (Ark. App. 1980), wherein the Court stated:

While PFS did insist that Mr. Cotham personally sign the Note before credit would be extended to the Corporation, this record shows that Cotham's purpose in signing the Note was not solely to lend his name as a surety to the other comakers. We are persuaded that his primary purpose in signing the Note was to benefit his business interests by obtaining money to keep his corporation going with the expectation that it would ultimately repay the Note. Therefore he was not an accommodation endorser under the circumstances.

Watts personally wanted Gregory to operate the 481 acre farm to be able to pay Watts for said farm. The first note signed by

both Watts-Gregory (\$198,519.00) consisted of \$105,000.00 , , over, and an operating loan to farm the Gregory Farm. The note (\$20,000.00) was to make permanent improvement to the Gregory Farm. Watts received a payment from the proceeds of last increase of some \$27,000.00. Watts cannot be an accommodation maker under these circumstances.

POINT II

IF WATTS IS A CO-MAKER AND NOT AN ACCOMMODATION MAKER, THE RELEASE HAS NO EFFECT

It is conceded by all parties that the only basis of relief for Watts is if Watts is an accommodation maker as opposed to a party of primary obligation. There exists, at the outset, a material issue of fact of what the status of Watts is in this instance. If Watts is a primary obligor then the trial court erred in its "Findings" and ruling.

This issue is crucial to Watts' position. In the leading case of Wohlhuter v. St. Charles Lumber and Fuel Co., 338 N.E.2d 179, 62 Ill.2d 16 (1975), the Court concluded at page 182:

In our opinion the legislative history of the Uniform Commercial Code and its predecessor, the Negotiable Instrument Law, supports the conclusion that the term "any party" as used in section 3-606 of the Uniform Commercial Code was intended to include parties who sign negotiable instruments ostensibly as makers but who are in fact sureties or accommodation makers, and that the provisions of section 3-606(1)(b) do not apply to co-makers "

See also Peoples Bank, Etc. v. Pied Piper Retreat, Inc.,

199 9.E.2d 572 (W. Va. 1974), wherein the Court declared at page

113:

The appellant concedes that this defense of unjustifiable impairment of collateral is available only to secondary or accommodation parties. This is undoubtedly the rule--the defense is available to both secondary parties and accommodation parties, whether the latter are secondary accommodation parties such as accommodation endorsers, or primary accommodation parties such as accommodation makers. The defense is not available to principal debtors, i.e., makers. See the official comment to Code, 46-3-606, where it is indicated that this is a suretyship defense available to a party who has recourse against another party to the instrument. See also I, Hawkland, A Transactional Guide to the Uniform Commercial Code, Section 2.1705, page 551, Section 2.2101, page 563; Oregon Bank v. Baardson, 256 Or. 454, 473 p.2d 1015.

Also see Hooper v. Ryan, 581 S.W.2d 237 (Texas 1979), where it is held that Section 3.606 of the UCC applies to sureties and not to co-makers.

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