1984

## Utah Farm Production Credit Association v. Milo W. Watts, Et. Al. : Brief of Respondents, Milo W. And Cleown Watts

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

#### ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE COURT BELOW PROPERLY RULED THAT DEFENDANTS  
WERE ACCOMMODATION MAKERS.

Counsel for PCA, in Point I of his Argument, under the  
theory that there are issues of fact, argues that defendants  
were primary obligors, rather than accommodation makers and

in support of that assertion selectively chooses from the documents noted heretofore in our Statement of Facts at length so much of them as allude to the original collateral first pledged in the Watts loan of 1974, coupled with some after-the-fact affidavits acquired from three former employees of PCA (Mills, Naylor and Wood). All of those affidavits were objected to and were moved to be stricken by Watts for several reasons, not the least of which that they were self-serving, presumed to express a corporate opinion, and further presumed to suggest what was in the minds of parties not testifying and could not accordingly be based on personal knowledge. The Court did not rule on any of the Motions to Strike, and it is submitted by the undersigned that it is immaterial whether they were to be accepted as part of the record or not because the affidavits miss the point, as does the Argument of PCA's counsel.

Being an accommodation maker or a primary obligor is not a question of the "intent" of the would-be creditor or holder of creditor or beneficiary of an obligation, but rather a matter of fact. It is to be noted, however as an example, that the paragraph cited from Mr. Wood, who was incidentally involved with the renewal note, loan action report and credit notice letter (Items 2 and 3 noted above) is impeached by those very documents as noted above under the heading "Loan History," "Financial Information," the letter addressed solely to Gregory, and the fact

at Gregory's financial statement, as well as Watts', was spelled

It is also to be noted that counsel for PCA adds language at page 10 and 11 of its brief that does not appear in the record, calling the first mortgage on 109 acres, the "(Watts home)" and the second mortgage on 1,257 acres "(Watts farm)." The parentheses additions are voluntary surplus of counsel and are not in the original documents and were never identified as such in the record or in the depositions. Indeed, Tom Boyer thought 109 acres was acreage owned by Gregory located somewhere in the Fillmore area. (II Boyer Depo. 41, 48, 50, 51) Unquestionably part of the mortgaged property described in the exhibits belonged to Milo Watts as obviously a portion of it was the 480 acres sold to Gregory, but there is nothing in the record to identify on any of the documents listing collateral to actually specifically identify the 480 acres with which we are here involved.

The undersigned also disputes PCA's counsel's argument that Watts received a "direct benefit" in these transactions. Apart from the fact that the amount assumed by Gregorys was approximately \$74,000.00, not \$105,000.00 as noted in the Statement of Facts above, the matter of benefit is a question of consideration running between Gregorys and Watts, not between PCA and Watts.

PCA asserts that Section 70A-3-606, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, is not applicable in this case since it relates only to

parties holding a right of recourse, i.e., accommodation parties and PCA asserts that Watts are not accommodation parties.

PCA's assertion, it appears, is based upon a misunderstanding of the law of accommodation parties as it relates to the law of primary and secondary liability. PCA asserts that because the Watts' signatures appear on the note as co-signers, they cannot be accommodation parties. It is apparently PCA's belief that since a co-signer is primarily liable, he cannot be an accommodation party. Under this view only parties secondarily liable on instruments can be accommodation parties. That is, of course, clearly not the law. The doctrine of primary and secondary liability is a doctrine which relates primarily to the holder of the note (creditor). If a party to the note is primarily liable, then the holder can proceed against him forthwith. On the other hand, a party who is secondarily liable can only be proceeded against after the creditor has taken certain preliminary steps as to the party or parties primarily liable.

It is irrelevant whether a party is primarily or secondarily liable as it relates to accommodation parties. The rights of the creditor against parties primarily liable are the same whether such parties receive the benefit of the consideration or merely sign to allow someone else to receive that benefit (aside from issues relating to discharge). On the other hand, the doctrine of accommodation parties is a doctrine which relates primarily to the relationship between the debtors themselves. It

line states in substance that as between debtors, the party  
receives the benefit of the consideration must reimburse the  
party to the note who did not receive such consideration in the  
event such party sustains a loss by virtue of default on the note,  
that is to say the accommodation party is given recourse over  
against the accommodated party for any loss sustained by the  
accommodation party.

Section 70A-3-415 states in subparagraph 1 as follows:

"An accommodation party is one who signs the instrument  
in any capacity for the purpose of lending his name to  
another party to it." (Emphasis added.)

It is thus clear that the accommodation party can be a  
maker, drawer, endorser, co-maker, or can sign on a note in any  
other capacity. Subparagraph 5 of said section states:

"An accommodation party is not liable to the party  
accommodated, and if he pays the instrument has a right of  
recourse on the instrument against such party." (Emphasis  
added.)

Comment 1 to the official text of the Uniform Commercial  
Code found under Section 3-415 states as follows:

"1. Subsection (1) recognizes that an accommodation  
party is always a surety (which includes a guarantor), and it  
is his only distinguishing feature. He differs from other  
sureties only in that his liability is on the instrument and  
he is a surety for another party to it. His obligation is  
therefore determined by the capacity in which he signs. An  
accommodation maker or acceptor is bound on the instrument  
without any resort to his principal, while an accommodation  
endorser may be liable only after presentment, notice of  
dishonor and protest. The subsection recognizes the defenses  
of a surety in accordance with the provisions subjecting one  
not a holder in due course to all simple contract defenses,  
as well as his rights against his principal after payment.  
Under subsection (3) except as against a holder in due course  
without notice of the accommodation, parol evidence is

admissible to prove that the party has signed for accommodation."

As 2 F. Hart and W. Willier, Bender's Uniform Commercial Code Service § 13.03 states at 13-10 (1983):

"Equally confused and misleading has been the use of the terms 'secondary' and 'primary' with reference to contractual liability and to the suretyship transaction. In the suretyship sense, 'secondary' simply refers to the fact that the obligor rather than the surety ought to pay or perform; hence, his obligation is 'primary' and the surety's 'secondary.' However, in a contractual sense, 'secondary' refers to conditional liability, i.e., conditions precedent to the promisor's duty of performance, while 'primary' refers to an unconditional or absolute duty to perform. Thus, a surety is always 'secondarily' liable in the suretyship sense, but he may be either 'primarily' or 'secondarily' liable in the contractual sense, depending upon the terms of his agreement with the obligee. (Emphasis added.)

Thus an accommodation maker is primarily or secondarily liable to the holder of the note depending on the capacity in which he signs, a maker being primarily liable, and an endorser being secondarily liable, but as between an accommodation party and the accommodated party, the accommodation party is "always a surety."

The Watts then as accommodation parties are always sureties as to the Gregorys and thus are entitled to recourse against Gregorys on the notes.

This is obviously a doctrine based upon principles of fair play and good conscience. If the accommodation party is made to pay the obligation, but has no right of recourse against the accommodated party, then the accommodated party is granted an unconscionable benefit. He gets the benefit of the proceeds of

the note, but never has to pay anyone for them. The same is true if the right of recourse is in any way limited or impaired.

It is clear in the instant case that from and after the signing of the Uniform Real Estate Contract between Watts and Gregory, the Watts became accommodation parties as to Gregory. It is true that at the time of the signing of that note the Watts owed PCA an indebtedness on the farm of approximately \$74,000.00. However, Gregory assumed that indebtedness as a part of the purchase price (i.e., he got an equity in the land commensurate with said assumed debt), and thus as between Watts and Gregory it became the indebtedness of Gregory. Indeed we can say that in effect Watts paid Gregory to assume said debt--to make it his. It is thus clear that from and after the signing of that contract, the original Watts' indebtedness became the indebtedness of Gregory as between Watts and Gregory. Gregory had received a consideration for assuming that debt in the nature of part payment of the purchase price.

Furthermore, from and after the date of the signing of that contract, all monies disbursed by PCA for the farm or in connection therewith incurred to the benefit of the equitable owner of the farm, to-wit, Gregory, the contract purchaser. Disbursements from PCA for improvements on the farm could not accrue to the benefit of Watts. Even if the value of the farm had when doubled or tripled by said disbursements, that increase in value could not help Watts. Any improvements to the farm through

disbursements from PCA would inure in law to the benefit of Gregory. From and after the date of the signing of that contract, Gregory was deemed the owner of the farm in equity, and Watts were deemed to have a security interest only. It is thus inescapable that as between Watts and Gregory, Watts was an accommodation maker and Gregory was the accommodated party, both as to the original debt and as to all subsequent loans, the proceeds of which went entirely to Gregory by the undisputed facts.

As noted throughout the Statement of Facts above, Gregory asked for and received all the increases extended by PCA, wrote all the drafts spending the same to pay their bills--including the only installment paid to Watts on the Uniform Real Estate Contract.

PCA has claimed that Watts did get one benefit, and that is that one of the disbursements to Gregory was used by him to pay one annual installment to Watts on the Uniform Real Estate Contract. This cannot be deemed to be a disbursement to Watts from PCA, such as would preclude Watts from being an accommodation party for a number of reasons: First, the Watts were not advised until long after the fact that Gregory had so used the money. Second, only after the money was chargeable to Gregory did he then use it to pay his debt to Watts. Third, Gregory had a duty to pay Watts an annual payment of \$24,500.00. The money he got from PCA he used to discharge that debt. He borrowed \$24,500.00 and got the full use of it in paying his debt in that amount. Watts on

On the other hand had a right to receive \$24,500.00 on the annual payment without having that amount charged against his collateral. For the \$24,500.00 Watts received he cancelled \$24,500.00 of debt which Gregory owed him in the land contract and he got charged with \$24,500.00 against his home and other land. The net result to Watts therefore is a \$24,500.00 deficit. It must therefore be obvious that Gregory got the only real benefit and Watts once again just got used.

Furthermore, the PCA indebtedness was at a much higher interest rate (12.18% - R.17) than the land contract (7% - R.50), so Watts is additionally hurt in that regard.

PCA asserts that some of the money went to pay "joint obligations" of Watts and Gregory. There is not one shred of evidence of this. Watts and Gregory did not owe anyone anything jointly, except PCA, and the disbursements from PCA obviously did not go back to PCA. Watts and Gregory were not joint operators of the farm and there simply were no such joint debts.

Finally, on this point, PCA, in knowingly and secretly advancing money to Gregory for him to make an illusory payment to Watts, does not constitute good faith dealing. Watts as accommodation maker was entitled to know of any significant fact known to PCA that effected his suretyship position. Watts had a right to be timely advised that Gregory did not have money for the annual payment in order to permit Watts to take steps to timely protect himself. Instead PCA let him become so deeply enmeshed in

debt with Gregory that there was little hope that the debt be paid from the one-year's earnings of the 481 acres as it normally required, and the stage was set for PCA to undertake takeover of all of Watts' land.

The Court below therefore properly ruled that the Watts were accommodation parties as to the Gregorlys and that ruling should be affirmed.

POINT 11. PCA, IN EXECUTING ITS SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WITH GREGORYS, FAILED TO MAKE AN EXPRESS RESERVATION OF RIGHTS AGAINST WATTS, AND THE WATTS WERE ACCORDINGLY PROPERLY RELEASED FROM LIABILITY BY THE COURT BELOW.

The Uniform Joint Obligations Act, which is found in the Utah Code as sections 15-4-1 to 7, governs the facts of this case. Section 15-4-4 provides as follows:

"Release of co-obligor--Reservation of rights.--Subject to the provisions of section 15-4-3, the obligee's release or discharge of one or more of several obligors, or of one or more of joint or of joint and several obligors, shall not discharge co-obligors against whom the obligee in writing is party to the same transaction as the release or discharge expressly reserves his rights; and in the absence of such reservation of rights shall discharge co-obligors only to the extent provided in section 15-4-5." (Emphasis added.)

Section 15-4-5 provides in relevant parts:

"Release of co-obligor--Effect of knowledge of claim.--If an obligee releases or discharges an obligor without express reservation of rights against a co-obligor whom he or his releasee knew that the claim released or discharged did not pay as much of the claim as he was obligated by contract or relation with that co-obligor to pay, the obligee's claim against that co-obligor shall be satisfied the amount which the obligee knew or should have known the released or discharged obligor was obligated to pay."

The section goes on to set forth the result where the party does not have knowledge, but that part is irrelevant. PCA clearly had knowledge of the accommodation status of

It is thus clear under the foregoing provisions that PCA made an "express reservation of rights" against Watts, and Watts are released by virtue of PCA's release of Gregorys. Without dispute, knew that the monies advanced by it went to Gregorys and not to Watts. PCA knew that the monies went to Gregorys to buy the farm which Gregorys were buying from Watts and that the accommodation would in nowise inure to the benefit of the Gregorys. Since PCA knew that, although Watts were co-signers on the promissory notes, Gregorys were bound by the law applicable to the Uniform Commercial Code Contract existing between them and by the law of the State of Louisiana makers to reimburse Watts for any amount which Watts were liable for by virtue of the loans of PCA to Gregorys.

A further statutory provision applicable to the facts of this case is found in the Uniform Commercial Code at Section 70A-3-403 which provides:

"Impairment of recourse or of collateral.

- 1. The holder discharges any party to the instrument to the extent that without such party's consent the holder
- 2. Without express reservation of rights releases or agrees not to sue any person against whom the party has to the knowledge of the holder a right of recourse or agrees to abstain the right to enforce against such person the instrument or collateral or otherwise discharges such person, except that failure or delay in effecting any required presentment, protest or notice of dishonor with

respect to any such person does not discharge any party as to whom presentment, protest or notice of dishonor is effective or unnecessary; or

- (b) unjustifiably impairs any collateral for the instrument given by or on behalf of the party or any person against whom he has a right of recourse.
- (2) By express reservation of rights against a party with a right of recourse the holder preserves
  - (a) all his rights against such party as of the time when the instrument was originally due; and
  - (b) the right of the party to pay the instrument as of that time; and
  - (c) All rights of such party to recourse against others." (Emphasis added.)

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